HARRISON v. OFFICE OF THE ARCHITECT OF THE CAPITOL Doc. 37

UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

SHARON M. HARRISON
Plaintiff,

Civil Action No. 11-420(CKK)

V.

OFFICE OFTHE ARCHITECT OF THE
CAPITOL,

Defendant

REDACTED MEMORANDUM OPINION
(SeptembeR3, 2014)

Presently before the Court is Plaintiff81] Motion for Reconsideration of the Court’s
[29] Order, granting Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgmemd accompanying3(]
Memorandum Opinion Plaintiff argues that:1) the Court erredby applying case law related to
Title VIl claims to the instant action brought unddre Congressional Accountability Act
(“CAA"), 2 U.S.C. 8§ 130kt seq. and (2) the Courérred in granting summary judgment for
Defendant on Plaintiff’'s retaliatory hostile work environment claim givenrbiglents cited by
Plaintiff in the instant matter and the two earlier cases filed by Plaintdfjainst Defendant.
Upon consideration of the pleadingthe relevant legal authorities, and the record as a whole,
the CourtINCORPORATESas part of this opiniorits reasoning as laid out in it<3(]
Memorandum Opinionsee985 F. Supp. 2d 13 (D.D.C. 2013ndDENIES Plaintiff's motion

for reconsideration for the foregoing reasons.

' The Court’s decision is based on the record as a whole, but the Court’s amalyseif
on the following documents, listed in chronological order of filingt.’s Mot. for
Reconsideration(“Pl.’s Mot.”), ECF No. B1l]; Def.’s Memo. in Opp’n to Pl’s Mot. for
Reconsideration (“Def.’s Opp’n”), ECF No. [32]; Pl.'s Reply Mem. in SupphefMot. for
Reconsideration (“Pl.’s Reply”), ECF No. [34].
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. BACKGROUND

The Court has detailed the underlying facts of this Motion in its previous opides.
Harrison v. Office of the Architect of ti@apitol, 985 F. Supp. 2d 13, 15-18 (D.D.C. 2013Jhe
instantmatter is based on an evehat occurredon July 6, 201Qelated to an email sent by
Senior Agent James Wilson of téfice of the Inspector General to Plaintiff

During all pertinent times, Plaintiff, Sharon Harrison, was employed bgrideht, the
Architect of the Capitol. This action is thieird of three lawsuits filed in this Court by the
Plaintiff challenging various aspects of her employment with the Defendanful®a3, 2009,
Plaintiff filed her first action (“Harrison [I') against Defendantalleging that Defendant
unlawfully discriminated against her in violation of 2 U.S.C. § 1311(a)(1), and unlawfully
retaliated against her in violation of 2 U.S.C. 8§ 1317(&§eeCiv. No. 091364 (CKK)
(“Harrison I'). On August 31, 201QRlaintiff filed a subsequent actiqfiHarrison I1I”) against
Defendant, alleging that Defendant unlawfully retaliated againstnheiolation of 2 U.S.C. §
1317(a). SeeCiv. No. 101480 (CKK)(“Harrison II"). On February 23, 2011, Plaintiff filébe
instantaction (“Harrison 111") against Defendant, alleging that Defendant unlawfully retaliated
against her in violation of 2 U.S.C. § 1317(a). By separate orders, the Court guamiadry
judgment in favor of Defendaim each of the three action§ee Harrison,1964F. Supp. 2d 71
(D.D.C. 2013);Harrison Il, 964 F. Supp. 2d 81 (D.D.C. 2018)arrison 11, 985 F. Supp. 2d 13
(D.D.C. 2013).

In the instant action, the Court granted summary judgment in favor of Defendant on all

three Counts of Plaintiff's Complaiass fdlows: (a) unlawful retaliation for Plaintiff's protected



activities in violation of the CAA based ehe July 6, 2010 incidef€ounts | & 11);? and (b) and
imposition of a retaliatory hostile work environment against Plaintiff (Count 8ee generally
Harrison Ill, 985 F. Supp. 2d 13 (D.D.C. 2013).
I. LEGAL STANDARD

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e) permits a party to file “[a] motion to@lt@mend
a judgment” within “28 days after the entry of the judgment.” Fed. R. Civ. P..59(ejions
under Rule 59(e) are “disfavored” and the moving party bears the burden of establishing
“extraordinary circumstances” warranting relief from a final judgmétiedermeier v. Office of
Baucus 153 F.Supp.2d 23, 28 (D.D.C. 2001). Rule 59(e) mosaare “discretionary and need
not be granted unless the district court finds that there is an intervening change afiropntr
law, the availability of new evidence, or the need to correct a clear error or preaeif¢sn
injustice.” Firestone v. Firesing 76 F.3d 1205, 1208 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (internal quotation marks
omitted). Rule 59(e) does not provide a vehicle “to relitigate old matters, as¢oarguments
or present evidence that could have been raised prior to the entry of judgaxswn’ Stpping
Co. v. Baker 554 U.S. 471, 485 n.5 (2008) (quoting 11 C. Wright & A. MillBEDERAL
PRACTICE AND PROCEDURES 2810.1 (2d ed. 1995)).

1.  DISCUSSION

Plaintiff raisestwo objections to the Court’s granting of summary judgment in favor of
Defendant in the instant matteFirst, Plaintiff alleges that the Court erred by applying case law
related to Title VII claims to the instant action brought under the C8&cond, Plaintiff argues

that the Court erred in concluding that events cited by#ffan Harrison I, I, andlll were too

% As the Court noted in its decision, it analyzed Counts | and Il together because both
claims arosérom the same inciderdgnd the Court was unable to distinguish the two coGets.
Harrison 111, 985 F. Supp. 2d at 18.
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sporadic in nature to compose an actionable hostile work environment claim, payticuligtht
of the fact that the employees involved in many of the incidents had the same supéries
Court shall address each argument in turn.

A. Protection Provided Against Discrimination & Retaliation Under the CAA

Plaintiff argues that the Court erred by applying case law related &mtigkscrimination
and antiretaliatiomprovisions of Title VII to the instant action because the CAA provides broader
protection against discrimination and retaliation. Pl.’s Mob-80. Plaintiff roots her argument
in two sources: (1) the text of the CAA and Title VII; and (2) decisionshe Office of
Compliance Board (“Board”) related to CAA claimkl. In contrast, Defendant argues that the
Court’s application of case law related to Title VII was appropriate becél)sieoth the text of
the statutes and precedent in this jurisdicBopport the finding that the CAA incorporates Title
VIl and its underlying body of law; and (2) decisions by the Board are not binding orotinis C
Def.’s Opp’n at 35. The Court finds that it did not err by applying Title VIl precedents to the
instent action for the reasons described herein.

Turning to Plaintiff's first argument, Plaintiff asserts that the statutory lagegitaelf
justifies different standards for claims brought under the CAA and those braudgt Title VII.
Plaintiff argues thatthe statutory language of the CAA’s antidiscrimination provision
demonstrates that the protection is broader than that encompassed by [Titleh¥lrelevant
portion of the CAA provides: “All personnel actions affecting covered employedisbe made
free from any discrimination based on . . . race, color, religion, sex, or national orilgin,tie
meaning of section 703 of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 [Title VII].” 2 U.S.C. § 1311(a)(1).
Title VII's antidiscrimination provision provides:

It shall be an unlawful employment practice for an employer . . . to fail or refuse
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to hire or to discharge any individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any
individual with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of
employment, becaesof such individual's race, color, religion, sex, or national
origin; or . . . to limit, segregate, or classify his employees or applicants for
employment in any way which would deprive or tend to deprive any individual of
employment opportunities or otlvéise adversely affect his status as an employee,
because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.

42 U.S.C. § 20008(a). Plaintiff argues that the reference in the CAA to “all personneinstti

covers a broader range aftpntial employment actions than Title VII which only provides relief

from specific types of employment actions. Pl.’s Mot. at 7.

Plaintiff similarly argues that the antiretaliation provision of the CAA is broader tife

analogous provision in Title VII. With regards to retaliation, the CAA provides:

It shall be unlawful for an employing office to intimidate, take reprisal against, or
otherwise discriminate against, any covered employee because the covered
employee has opposed any practice made unlawful by this Act, or because the
covered employee has initiated proceedings, made a charge, or testified,,assisted
or participated in any manner in a hearing or other proceeding under this Act.

2 U.S.C. §1317(a). Title VII also provides protection agfaietaliation, stating:

It shall be an unlawful employment practice for an employer to discriminate
against any of his employees or applicants for employment, for an employment
agency, or joint labemanagement committee controlling apprenticeship ogroth
training or retraining, including ethejob training programs, to discriminate
against any individual, or for a labor organization to discriminate against any
member thereof or applicant for membership, because he has opposed any practice
made an unlaful employment practice by this title [Title VII] [], or because he

has made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any manner in an
investigation, proceeding, or hearing under this title [Title VII] [].

42 U.S.C. § 20008. Plaintiff argueshat the inclusion of the word “intimidate” demonstrates

that the antiretaliation provision, like the antidiscrimination provision, of thé Cévers a

broader range of employer activity. Pl.’s Mot. &.7Defendant argues that the CAA explicitly

appliedeleven employment and workplace laws, including Title VII, to the legisl&tranch of
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the federal government and, thus, the case law interpreting Title VIl is ajgpebpapplied to
actions brought under the CAA. Def.’s Opp’n at 3.

The Court findsPlaintiff’'s argument related to the statutory language unpersuasive. In
Newton v. Office of the Architect of the Capitbidge Royce C. Lamberth held that Title VII
case law applied to discrimination and retaliation claims brought under the @83 F.Supp.
2d 88 (D.D.C. 2012)aff'd No. 125145, 2012 WL 660367 (D.C. Cir. Dec. 6, 2012). In a
detailed analysis, Judge Lamberth found that neither precedent in this jurisdictistatntory
interpretation supported the plaintiffs claim that judicial interpretations of Titlé VI
discrimination and retaliation claims were inappropriately applied torectirought under the
CAA. Id. at 9293. Indeed, contrary to Plaintiffs argument, courts in this jurisdiction
consistently have read the CAA to incorporate Title VIl as well as othexdiahfederal statutes
and, thus, have applied case law related to underlying remedial federakstaicieas Title VII,
in analyzing claims brought under both the antidiscrimination and antiredaljptovisions of
the CAA. See, e.g.BlackmonMalloy v. United States Capitol Police B&75 F.3d 699, 706
(D.C. Cir. 2009) (noting that “[tlhe CAA incorporates much of Title VII's substariaw, but it
establishes its own comprehensive administrative regimeluding jurisdictional provisions”);
Brady v. Office of the Sergeant at A;rb20 F.3d 490, 492 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (noting that Title
VIl applies to offices of the legislative branch through the CAA and applyithg Vil analysis
to the plaintiff's discrimination @ims); Anyaso v. United States Capitol Policgiv. No. 12
1327, 2014 WL 1501242, at 48 (D.D.C. Apr. 7, 2014) (finding that courts analyze both
discrimination and retaliation claims brought under the CAA using the same sisadatlaims
brought undefTitle VII); Gordon v. Office of the Architect of the Capit®28 F. Supp. 2d 196,
206 (D.D.C. 2013) (holding that discrimination claims brought under the CAA are atalyze
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under theMcDonnell Douglagramework);Joyce v. Office of the Architect of the @al 966 F.
Supp. 2d 15, 22 (D.D.C. 2013) (“In substance, . . . the Congressional Accountability Act
expressly incorporates protections and remedies from the generallycabpplifederal
antidiscrimination statutes . . . . Though retaliation under th& 6&s no explicit tie to other
statutes, ... both parties agredollowing D.C. Circuitdictaand district court holdings- that

the framework for Title VII retaliation applies."Moran v. United States Capitol Police B837

F. Supp. 2d 23, 30 (D.D.C. 2012) (“Although the CAA contains its own retaliation provision,
courts refer to the body of case law regarding discrimination under Titleo \éNdluate claims

of retaliation under the CAA.”). Indeed, this Court addressed this issue imlign eding and
noted that, “[c]laims brought under the CAA are analyzed under Title VII's fanifamework

and standards . . . . [and] [a]lthough the CAA includes its ownrretatiation provisionsee2
U.S.C. §8 1317(a), courts routinely rely upon Title \¢Hse law when evaluating whether a
challenged employment action is sufficiently adverse under the CAA’sredaliation
provision.” Herbert v. Architect of the CapitoB39 F. Supp. 2d 284, 291 n.2 (D.D.C. 2012)
(internal citations omitted). Accordinglyhe Court finds that Title VII analyses are properly
applied to claims related to Title VII but brought through the CAA pursuant toase law in

this jurisdiction.

Turning to Plaintiff's second argument that this Court should follow the Board’'s
interpretations of the antiretaliation provision of the CAA, the Court similarly fildg this
argument is not persuasive. As the United States Court of Appeals for thetDis€olumbia
Circuit (“D.C. Circuit”) explained, “Congress extended the provedtiof Title VII of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964, as well as ten other remedial federal statutes, to emppbyeedegislative
branch” through the CAABIlackmonMalloy v. United States Capitol Police B&75 F.3d 699,
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701 (D.C. Cir. 2009);see also2 U.S.C. § 1302(a) (“The following laws shall apply, as
prescribed by this Act, to the legislative branch of the Federal Governmentitle VITof the

Civil Rights Act of 1964 . . . .”). The D.C. Circuit noted thiae CAA sets up a threstep
internal process, including counseling and mediation, for an aggrieved employee to follow.
Upon completion of the thresep process, an employee may file a complaint either with the
Office of Compliance Board or in district coutd. at 701-02. However, as another judge in this
district noted, Board decisions are not final because they are appealable to tlaé Gedeit,
making both complaints brought with the Office of Compliance and in district courtatediyn
subject to judicial reviewNewton v. Offie of the Architect of the Capitd05 F. Supp. 2d 88,

92 (D.D.C. 2012). Accordingly, the CAA “suggests judicial, not Board, primacy by prgvidin
that courts, rather than the Board, shall (if necessary) have the final watdcomplaints.” Id.

at 9293.

Plaintiff points to two Board decisions supporting her argument that thetah#tion
provision of the CAA should be read more broadly than that of Title VII. Pl.’s Mot:Gat 7
(citing Solomon v. Office of the Architect of the Capit@ase No. 0AC-62 (RP) (Office of
Compliance Dec. 7, 2005) (Decision of Bd. of Dir.), http://www.compliance.gev/wp
content/uploads/2010/03/solomon_12-07-05.pudlitton v. Office of the Architect of the Capijtol
Case No. O&8\C-20 (CV, RP) (Office of Compliance May 23, 2005) (Decision of Bd. of Dir.),
http://www.compliance.gov/wp-content/uploads/2010/03/britton_05-23-05.pd{Contrary to
Plaintiff's assertion that the CAA provides broader protection than Title WByitton v. Office
of the Architect of the Capitch case cited approvingly by Plaintiff, the Board found that a Title
VIl -based approach to claims brought under the CAA was appropBaiion, Case No. 08
AC-20 (CV, RP), at 7. Accordingly, the cited Board opinion supports, rather than refutes that
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appropriateness of applying Title VII standards to actions brought under the CAA. o&iné i8
Britton considered the varying approaches to Title VII adopted by different sitcudetermine
what employment actions should be actionable under the CAAmaiély, the Board rejected
the D.C. Circuit's approach and adopted the broader approach of other circuitdinigppahe
Ninth Circuit. Id. at 779. As a result, the Board found actionable under the CAA “any adverse
treatment that is based on a retaliatory motive and is reasonably likely to dasegeg party

or others from engaging in protected activityld. at 8 (quotingRay v. Hendem, 217 F.3d
1234, 12443 (9th Cir. 2000)). However, given the “judicial primacy” embodied in the CAA,
the Court is unpersuaded that it should follow the Board's adoption of the Ninth Circuit’'s
interpretation of Title VII over binding precedent interpreting Title VNotably, there is no
Federal Circuit opinion that adopts the Board’s apprdaddost importantly, after the cited
Board decisions, the Supreme Court of the United States expressly adopted ther&ui€Cs Ci
interpretation of the antiretalion provision of Title VII over those employed by other circuits,
including the one adopted by the BoardBiarlington Northern & Santa Fe Ry. v. Whit48

U.S. 53 (2006).ld. at 6768. Indeed, the Supreme Court held: “In our view, plaintiff must show
that a reasonable employee would have found the challenged action materiallg,adieis in

this context means it well might have dissuaded a reasonable worker from makipganiag

® Plaintiff cites to one Federal Circuit opinion in her refyncan v. Office of the
Architect 541 F.3d 1377 (Fed. Cir. 2008). Pl.’s Reply at 6.Dumcan the Federal Circuit held
that the plaintiff could bring an OSH#elated retaliation claim before the Board through the
CAA. Id. at 1380. However, the Federal Circuitbnncandid not adopt the Board’s standard
for a retaliaton claim under the CAA. Rather, the court noted that the Board applied the
“reasonably likely” standardd. at 1379, but ultimately the court upheld the Board’s ruling in
favor ofthe defendant because the plaintiff failed to meet the causation requoirefrtas claim.
Id. at 1380.

9



a charge of discrimination.”ld. at 68 (internal quotations otted)* Therefore, the Board
decisions Plaintiff cites rely on Title VII precedent that has been overryldtieb Supreme
Court.

Accordingly, the Court is not persuaded that either the language of the CAA itsadf or
decisions handed down by the Office of Compliance Board require the Court to recasside
earlier ruling. Rather, relying on the body of case law in this jurisdictimhSupreme Court
precedent, the Court concludes that it did not err in applying precedents framVTitto
Plaintiff's claims in the instant action and, thus, Plaintiff’'s request for sderation on this
issue is denied.

B. Hostile Work Environment Claim

The claims in the instant actiorenter aroundan email sent bysenior Agent James
Wilson of theOffice of the Inspector General (“OIGbn July § 2010. OIG was conducting an
investigation in response to Plaintiffforming the office that she oeived an anonymous letter
indicating thatLaurie Drake and Amy Heslep, two employees who rotated as Acting Chief of
Plaintiff's branch, had inquired about the protocol for obtaining access to Plaisitiinail
account. Harrison Ill, 985 F. Supp. 2d 13,7118 (D.D.C. 2013) Plaintiff sent an email to
Agent Wilson on June 22, 2010, inquiring about the status of the investigation. Agent Wilson
replied to Plaintiff's emailbn July 6, 2010jndicating that the investigation was ongoing and
copying Ms. Heslepn the email exchange. An earlier email in the exchange, now available to

Ms. Heslep by virtue of being copied on Agent Wilson'’s respand&ated that Plaintiff should

* The Courtfurther notes that Plaintiff cited the Supreme Court’s opinioBimlington
Northern & Santa Fe Ry. v. Whit&48 U.S. 53 (2006approvingly throughout its opposition to
Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgmei®eePl.’s Opp’n to Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J. at-31
32, 37-39 & 42, ECF No. [24].
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“come by[OIG] and getlie original letter and envelop#iat the Plaintiff receiva 1d. Plaintiff
argueghat this incident coupled with the incidents citedHarrison I andll form the basis of an
actionable hostile work environment clafmld. at 1822. Ultimately, the Court held thatno
reasonable jury could conclude that the purportedly hostile actions, viewed as a wdrele, w
sufficiently severe or pervasive so as to create a hostile work envirohmenat 23. Plaintiff
arguesthat Court erred in reaching this holdifay two reasons First, Plaintiff argues that the
Court erred by not considering the evidenceHexrison |, I, andlll as a whole in reaching its
decision® Second,Plaintiff argues that th€ourt did not consider that thevents are liked
together by a common thredtat is Chief Administrative OfficerDavid Fergusn whom
Plaintiff contends wagpersonally involved in the cited incidentswasthe supervisor of many
of the other employees involved in the various cited incidenits.this regard, the Court finds
that it will analyzea specific incidenthat should have beenonsidered as part d¢tlaintiff's
hostile work environmant claimand, thus, will reconsider Plaintiff's hostile Woenvironment
including this additional incident. However, the Court wibbt chnageits holding based on Mr.

Ferguso’s allegedinvolvement in the cited incidents.

®>The Court also granted summary judgment in favdbefiendant on Plaintiff's discrete
retdiation claim, holding thaa reasonable juror could not conclude #ratmail sent by Agent
Wilson on July 6, 201,0vas materially adverse as a matter of laarrison Ill, 985 F. Supp. 2d
13, 21 (D.D.C. 2013). Plaintiff does not raise any specific objection to this holding in henmaoti
and, accordingly, the Court shall only discuss its holding as to the hostile work environment
claim.

® The Court notes that this is contrary to the argument that Plaintiff raiségrin
opposition to the motion for summary judgment. In her opposition, Plaintiff notes that the
parties rejected the consolidation of the instant actionHardson 1. Pl.’s Opp’n to Mot. for
Summ. J., at 20, ECF No. [17]. Further, Plaintiff argues that Defendant “unaegessnflates
in part the subject matter of Plaintiff's second Complaiatrison 1, with the subject matter of
the instant ComplaintHarrison I11.”” Id.

" Defendant’s reply to Plaintiff's opposition is of little valuéth regard to the Court’s
analysis in this section as the repdlyes nodirectly address either of these arguments.
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1. Incidents cited in Harrison I, I, and Il

Turning to Plaintiff's first argument?laintiff provides alist of events that formed the
bases oHarrison |, II, andlll that she argues demonstrate a “systanatnsporadic hostile
work environment SeePl.’'s Mot. at 34. The Court finds that some of these events are
properly put forth as evidence of a hostile work environment but others are not propedy par
Plaintiff's hostile work environment claith. The Court finds that it did not fully analyze a
specific incident (22 emails re: job postings) that should be consideredtasf pAaintiff's
hostile work environment clairh. The Courtfirst will consider the events properbeforeit as
evidence of Riintiff's hostile work environment claim.

The Court first notes that thempetus ofHarrison | and the subsequent actioigsan
incident that occurredon August 6, 2008, between Plaintiff and her supervegothe time
Stephen Hayleck, which shall not be considered in this anabysBlaintiff's hostile work
environment claimfor the reasons describetfra. See Harrisonl, 964 F. Supp. 2d I} 74
(D.D.C. 2013) While Plaintiff was on leave from the office between September 30, 2008 to
February 19, 2009, shwade a request to Rebecca Tiscione, the Director of Human Resources,
that she be givea sixmonth temporary assignment outside of the Training Diviaiueh, thus,
outside of Mr. Hayleck’s chain of commantt. at 75. Uponher returnon Februaryl9, 2009
through June 17, 200@Iaintiff wastemporarilyassigned to the Human Resources Divisiod

the Human Capital Management Divisiavhere shedid not report to Mr. Hayleck. Id.;

8 While the Court ultimately shall address all incidents cited by Plaintiff in this section,
the Court shall not address them in the same order as presented by Plaintiff atidwer m
®The Court did not reconsider its holdingHarrison Il based on the 2@mailsbecause
the emails were not referenced in the complaBde generallompl., Civ. No. 10-1480, ECF
No. [1]. The Court sHbaconsider the emails in this analysis because they were described in the
complaint in the instant matter. Compl. §2Z8L
12



Harrison 1, 964 F. Supp. 2d 81, 86 (D.D.C. 201®)laintiff was reassigndshckto the Training
Branchon June 22, 2009, and again was placed in Mr. Hayleck's chain of command until
September 2009vhen Mr. Hayleck resigned from employment witbefendant. Harrison |,
964 F. Supp. 2dt 7576; Harrison I, 964 F. Supp. 2d at 85. Howevehiring that time,
Plaintiff did not return to the physical offic# the TrainingBranchin the basement of the Ford
Office Buildingand insteadworked from the second floaf the same buildingHarrison I, 964
F. Swipp. 2d at 76Harrison Il, 964 F. Supp. 2d at 8Flaintiff objected to beingransferredack
to the Training Brancin June 2009.SeeHarrison 11, 964 F. Supp. 2d at 8/ urther,while on
her temporary assignmerdetween February 19, 2009 and May 2809 Plaintiff received a
total of 22 anonymous emails regarding job opportunities outside of the Offite d\rchitect
of the Capitol[REDACTED — OIG REPORT]. Harrison |, 964 F. Supp. 2@t 75-76 Def.’s
Stmt. of Mat. Facts { 3 (citing Compl. 11-28), ECF No. [2]); [REDACTED - OIG
REPORT].

On October 23, 2009, Ms. Heslep and another employee, Kristy Miller, who shared office
space with Plaintiff, found a digital recorder in Plaintiff's coat pockédrrison Il, 964 F. Supp.
2d at 89. As a resultpn the following day, October 30, 2009, Plaintiff was instrudtgdan
Cassil,Depuy Chief Administrative Officer, and Teresa Bail&hief Human Capital Officer
that she was not allowed to bring a digital recorder with her to wiork Per adversenference
imposed as a sanction kharrison Il, one of the reasons that Plaintiff was bringing the digital
recorder to work was totentionally tape conversations between hewookers without their

consent? Id. at 95. Around the same time period, in late October or early Novembert8609,

19 As the Court noted itdarrison I, Plaintiff, who destroyed the recording device in
qguestion after it was requested through discovery, produced a recording of a camversati
13



Equal Employment Opportunity and Conciliation Programs Division of the Architetheof
Capitol (“EEO/CP) issued a final decisiorelated to one of Plaintiff's requests for counseling
that violated Procedural Ruler the Office of Compliance for the Architect of the Capitol
2.03(m). Id. at 87#88. Specifically, the EEO/Ckssued thefinal decision regarding the
grievance procedures from the Executive Director rather than the Architde Gfapitol, and
did not send a formal notice of the decision to the Office of Compliddceat 97, 101.

Next, in early March2010, Ms. Heslep and Ms. Drake, who rotated as Acting Chief of
Plaintiff's Branchafter Mr. Hayleck’'s departureasked the Information Security Division the
protocol for obtaining access to Plaintiff's computer, but did not request acces$ tinéa
Plaintiff was not on leave from the officd that time Id. at 9899. Shortly thereafterPlaintiff
was informed by anonymous lettexceived at her dme that Ms. Heslep and Ms. Drakead
made this inquiry Id. at91. Further, on March 8, 201¥s. Drakeissued a proposed reprimand
to Plaintiff alleging thatPlaintiff delayed reviewing and sending out contracts and issuing other
forms, and extended deadlines withthe approval of her supervisoid. at 90. The proposed
reprimand was submitted to Mr. Ferguson, who ultimately withdrew the proposedaegr |d.
Finally, on July 6, 2010, as discussegbrg Agent Wilson sent a reply email to Plaintiff copying
Ms. Heslep regarding the status of OIG’s investigation with referendég i@mail chain to the
anonymous letter sent to PlaintiffHarrison 1ll, 985 F. Supp. 2d 13, 118 (D.D.C. 2013)
Thesenciderts form the basis of the Plaintiff's hostile work environment claim.

The Court did not and will not consider the followiegents cited by Plaintiff as

evidence of a hostile work emgnment claim for theeasongdescribed Generally, the Court

betweenMs. Heslep and Ms. Miller Id. at 8390. Further, as the Court notedHiarrison I,
one of the questions left open in this matter due to Plaintiff's destruction ofctbrelireg device
was whether Plaintiff was using the device for her psychotherapy asegesalitl. at 94.

14



did not consider incidents that it had already concluded no reasonable juror could find were
motivated by a discriminatory or retaliatory animueeOncale v. Sundowner Offshore Servs.
523 U.S. 75, 8110998) (“Whatever evidentiary route the plaintiff choosedditow, he or she
must always prove that the conduct at issue was not merely tinged with offeesival
connotations, but actually constitutediscrimination. . . because of . . . sex.”Na’'lm v.
Clinton, 626 F. Supp. 2d 63, 73 (D.D.C. 20@®ourt in this jurisdiction have routinely held
that hostile behavior, no matter how unjustified or egregious, cannot support a claim ef hostil
work environment unless there exists some linkage between the hostile behavior and the
plaintiff s membership in arptected clas¥. The Court also did not consider incidents raised
by Plaintiff only in her briefs and not in any of the complaints in the instant aatithe @arlier
actions. See Harrison 11964 F. Supp. 2d 81, 95 (D.D.C. 201@jting Arbitraje Casa de
Cambio, S.A. de C.V. v. U.S. Postal Servk®/ F.Supp.2d 165, 170 (D.D.C. 2003)) (4t
axiomatic that the Plaintiff cannot amend her Complaint by the briefs in support iof o
opposition to a motion for summary judgment.”). Finally, the Court did not consider actions
taken by former employees after their employment with DefendantridetieSee42 U.S.C. §
2000e-3(providing that it is anunlawful employment practice for aamployerto retaliate
against an employee).

Specifically, the Court did not consider the following incidents for the reastats 1)
the August 6, 2008, incident (no evidence of discriminatory or retaliatory meéedlarrison |
964 F. Supp. 2d 778, 80(D.D.C. 2013); (2) Mr. Haylecks behaior toward the Plaintiff from
August 23, 2008intil September 30, 20080 evidence of a retaliatory motivaee idat 80) (3)
the September 30, 2008, incidént evidence of a retaliatory motivsge id); (4) the processing
of the Plaintiff's leave equestgno evidence of a retaliatory motivege id); (5) Plaintiff being
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taskedwith organizing files within close proximity to Mr. Hayleck’s offioa February 19, 2009
(no evidence of a retaliatory motiveee id); (6) the search of Plaintiff's coaiocket (no
evidence of a retaliatory motivege Harrison 11964 F. Supp. 2d 81, 101 (D.D.C. 20t3Y) the
issuance of the Performance Improvement Plan, that was never implemented (noeewide
retaliatory motive,see id); (8) the pornographic emasent to Plaintiff REDACTED — OIG
REPORT] and (9]REDACTED- OIG REPORT].

To establish a prima facie Title VIl hostile work environment claim, the Plaintift mus
show: (1) she was a member af protected class; (2) she was subjected to unwelcome
harasment; (3) the harassment occurred because of her protected status; and (Fs8radma
had the effect of unreasonably interfering with the plaist¥ork performance and creating an
intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environmerfbee Davis vCoastal Int'l Sec., In¢.

275 F.3d 1119, 11223 (D.C. Cir. 2002)Curry v. District of Columbia195 F.3d 654, 660
(D.C. Cir. 1999).To prevail on a hostile work environment claim, Plairtiffust first showhat

. . . She was subjected wiscriminatory inimidation, ridicule, and insulthat [was]‘ sufficiently
severe or pervasive to alter the conditions of [her] employment and areafsusive working
environment.” Brooks v. Grundmanry48 F.3d 1273, 1276 (D.C. Cir. 2014).

In reachng its holding in the instant action, the Court found that a reasonable juror could
not conclude “this string of sporadic events, spread out over time, and involving five separate
supervisors and a different division of the Defentlavds sufficiently severe or pervasive such
that it alteredthe conditions of the Plaintiff's employment and created an abusive working
environment Harrison lll, 985 F. Supp. 2@t 22. The Court finds no reason to disturb this
holding. Indeedthe cited incidents span thene period from February 19, 2009 through July 6,
2010, and involve actions taken by Mr. Hayleck, Nigscione Mr. Cassil,Ms. Bailey, Ms.
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Heslep, Ms. Drake, Agent Wilson, and tBEO/CR SeeBrooks 748 F.3d at 1276 (noting that

the court must assess thmeline of events as a whole to determine whether the conduct was
sufficiently severe or pervasivefewart v. Evan2275 F.3d 1126, 1134 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (“[A]

few isolated incidents of offensive conduct do not amount to actionable hara8gnseetlso

Blue v. Jacksar860 F. Supp. 2d 67, 76 (D.D.C. 201f)ding that incidents spanned five years,
multiple offices, and multiple supervisors did not form an actionable hostile work envitbnme
claim). Looking at the events in the aggregate, the Court finds that the cited conduct is not
sufficiently severe or pervasive to support a viable hostile work environment claim.

2. Chief Administrative Officer David Ferguson as Link Between Incidents

The Courtshall next addresBlaintiff's argument that the citezlrents are linked together
by a common thread, Chief Administrative Officer David Ferguwsbam Plaintiff contends was
either personally involved in the cited incidents or was the supervisor of mame aither
employees involved in the various cited incidentsPl.’s Mot. at 24. The Court notes that
Plaintiff failed to cite to the record in support of her argument regarding Myug@n, making it
difficult for the Court in some instances to ascertain the specific incideintg tiscussed.See
Pl.’s Mot. at 24. Plaintiff attemps$ to demonstrate a “systemic, neporadic hostile work

environment’ Pl.’s Mot. at 4, based othe “administrative network’of employees whéhurt”

11t appears that Plaintiff is attempting to establish #& was exposed to a systemic,
non-sporadic hostile work environment based on CAO Ferguson’s involvement in the incidents.
Pl.’s Mot. at 35; Pl.’s Reply at 2. To the extent that Plaintiff may be attempting to argue that
Defendant is vicariously liableof CAO Ferguson’s misuse of supervisory authotitg Court
has found that Plaintiff failed to demonstrate an actionable hostile work environaiemtacid,
thus, the Court does not reach the issue of whether Defendant can be held vicaaiolesfgrl
CAO Ferguson’s alleged misuse of supervisory authoi@ge Faragher v. City of Boca Raton
524 U.S. 775, 807 (1998) (“An employer is subject to vicarious liability to a victimized
employee for amctionable hostile environment created by a supervisor viitimediate (or
successively higher) authority over the employee.” (emphasis added)).
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andor failed to helpher, Pl.’s Mot. at 23.% Plaintiff appears to argue that the people on this
list, Mr. Ferguson can be linked to many of tieed incidents> Pl.’s Mot. 34. First, the Court
shall address the e¢rdents to which Plaintiff contends Mr. Ferguson was personally involved.
Next, the Court shall address two events cited by Plaintiff but not addressed bguttténC
Harrison |, Il, or lll. Finally, the Court shall address Plaintiff's argument reggrdvir.
Ferguson’s involvement by virtue of his supervisory role. Ultimately, the Courtuctascthat
the Plaintiff's argument regarding Mr. Ferguson fails for the reasowsiloled herein.

Plaintiff first notes that Mr. Ferguson was the recipient of thgirmal email sent by
Plaintiff that spurred the August 6, 2Q08cident with Mr. Hayleck. PI's Mot. at 3The emall
sent by Plaintifwas not considered by the Court as part of Plaintiff's hostile work environment

claim because Plaintiff herseffreciptated the events consideredHiarrison | with this email

12 plaintiff argues that when she sought assistance, shehwesby:

(a) Senior Executive Leadership, to include then Acting Architect Ayers who
became Architect of theCapitol and Chief Administrative Officer David
Ferguson, ‘CAO;" and, Dan Cassil, at one time Deputy CAO and Acting Chief
Human Capitol Officer, ‘CHCO,” of the newly formed Capitol Human
Management Division, ‘HCMD; (b) Employees of the Human Resources
Management Division, ‘HRMD,’ to include Rebecca Tiscione, Director, HRMD;
employees of the Workers’ Compensation Program; employees of the Employe
Relations Division; employees of the Training and Employee Development
Division, ‘TED; (c) Employees of the &n Equal Employment
Opportunity/Conciliation Programs Office, ‘EEO/CP,’ to include TeresaeBail
Director of the EEO/CP; (d) Teresa Bailey, Acting Deputy CHCO of the HCMD
(e) John Settle, Ombudsman; and, (f) Employees of the Office of the Inspector
Geneal, ‘OIG.’

Id. at 2-3.

13 plaintiff does not appear to make this argument centering around CAO Ferguson in her
opposition to Defendant’s motion for summary judgmehiie Court notes that Plaintiff makes
only one reference to CAO Ferguson in that oppmsiincluding him in a list of employees who
denied Plaintiff assistance in resolving earlier isshas not highlighting in any way the
argument made in her motion for reconsideration regarding his specific involventbe cited
incidents. SeePl.’s Opp’n to Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J., at 32, ECF No. [24].
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However, the Court shall consider for the purposes of this analysis that Mr. Fergustimewa
recipient of that email.To the extent Plaintiff now appears to argue MatFerguson retaliated
against her in response to this email, the Court notes that this argument is mbinraisg of the
complaints filed inHarrison |1, I, or lll. Indeed, inHarrison |, Plaintiff provides very few
details about the content of the email, simply stati@dief Hayleck was complaining about an
e-mail respecting training to be provided [by] EEO Specialist Vennettia Vann thiatif®,
pursuant to the order of Chief Hayleck, had sent to G@/yuson.’Pl.’s Opp. St. of Mat. Facts

1 2, Civ. No. 091364, ECF NoJ[43-1]. Further, Plaintiff makes no argument that the email
constituted protected activity within the meaning of the CAA such that it coutdtfor basis of

a retaliation claim, nor has Plaintiff presented any evidence thétesha request for couesng
related to the training complained about in the emaisuant to the requirements of the CAA
See2 U.S.C. 8§ 1401 (describing the procedure for consideration of alleged violations of the
CAA).

In relation to the events that the Court considereat of Plaintiff's hostile work
environment claim, Plaintiff only points to Mr. Ferguson’s direct involvement in ondeof t
incidents. Specifically, Mr. Fergusomthdrew the proposed reprimand &faintiff written by
Ms. Drake,and insteadcautioned Plaintiff that “future conduct of the type described in the
proposal will be considered a serious departure from [her] obligation to adhere tonithar &a
of Conduct and will result in appropriate disciplinary actiomarrison I, 964 F. Supp. 2d 81,
90 (D.D.C. 2013

In her motion, Plaintiff also alleges that Mr. Ferguson had direct involvement in two
incidents notiscussedby the Court ints opinions inHarrison |, I, or lll, and not supported by
the record First, Plaintiff contendghat “CAO Ferguson was first line supervisor to Jerry
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Ciango; EAP Manager who was ordered by CAO Ferguson to abandon his assistance of
Plaintiff.” Pl.’s Mot. at 3. Accordingo Plaintiff's Opposing Statement of Material Facts Not in
Genuine Dispute irHarrison I, Civ. No. 091364, ECF No. 43-1], Plaintiff contacted Mr.
Ciango, among others, after the August 6, 2008, incident with Mr. Hayadkir. Ciango told
her to handle the situation at the lowest level possible. Pl.’s Opp. St. of Mat. Fdes Giv.
No. 091364, ECF No. [44]. While Plaintiff indicates that she requested that Mr. Ciango
attendmeetingswith her in regard to her claim, the Court is unable to locate anything within the
statement of material facts that demonstrates Mr. Ciavago “ordered by CAO Ferguson to
abandon his assistance of the PlaintiffSee id.fY 2627, 3233, 35, 38, 41, 43.In fact, it
appears Mr. Ciango did assist Plaintiff with her clain®ee id. Further, it appears that Mr.
Ciangoalsoasssted Plaintiffin regards to her claims in the instant acti®@&eCompl. 1 3436,
50, ECF No. [1]. Accordingly, the Court finds this assertion with regard to MguBenis
without merit™*

Next, Plaintiff asserts that “[Mr.] Ferguson had administrative oversigit John Settle,
the Ombudsman who abandoned the Plaintiff's efforts to seek resolution of the difficultie

arising from the assault on her person by her first line supervisor to thefPlaintl.’s Mot. at

“The Court further notes thatshall not consider this argument as Plaintiff failed to cite
to the record to support this claim with regards to Mr. FerguSaeL.CvR 7(h) (An opposition
to a motion for summary judgment must include “a separate concise statementiioegssues
setting forth all material facts as to which it is contended there existaimgessue necessary to
be litigated, which shall include re@nces to the parts of the record relied on to support the
statement.”);Estate of Parsons v. Palestinian Ayt651 F.3d 118, 1387 (D.C. Cir. 2011)
(“[O]ur district courts’ Local Civil Rule 7(h) expressly authorizes couotdreat as forfeited
evidence—including record evideneethat the parties fail to highlight at summary judgment . . .
7).

15 plaintiff's reference to an assault refers to an incident descriti¢ariison I:

On August 6, 2008, the Plaintiff alleges that Mr. Haylexghproached the
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4. Plaintiff appears to be referencing ighents discussed in her complaint filedHrrison |I.
After Plaintiff lodged her complaint regarding the August 6, 2008, incident with MreElg
she agreed to work with Mr. Settle to attemptediatethe issue. Pl.’s Opp. St. of Mat. Facts 11
18-21, Civ. No. 091364, ECF No. [44]. Plaintiff communicated with Mr. Settle between
August 27, 2008 and September 11, 2008, regarding her cldirfjf 29-40. During that time,
Mr. Settle indicated that he had tried to contact Mr. Hayleck several timémémbt received a
response.ld. §9136-37. On September 11, 2008r. Settle emailed Plaintiff and indicated that
he was meeting with Mr. Hayleck on Septembgr2008, and that hopefully the next step would
be medation. Id. 1138-32 This was the last email that Plaintiff received from Mr. Settle
40. The Court includes this discussion to simply note that it appears apparent. thiatyMck
was uncooperative in the mediation process and that was the reason for the ce$sation
communication with Mr. Settle. Further, Plaintiff has demonstrated no link betWweeSettle’s
failure to mediate her clainvith Mr. Hayleck and Mr. FergusonPlaintiff simply states without
more, the bald assertion that Mr. Fergubad“administrdive oversight” over Mr. SettlePl.’s
Mot. at 4. Accordingly, the Court concludes that Plaintiff's allegation that Bhguson in any
way influenced Mr. Ciango or Mr. Settile order to stop them from assistiR¢aintiff is without
merit.

Plaintiff does not appear to argue that Mr. Ferguson had direct involvement in any of the

other cited incidentsonsidered by the Court in her hostile work environment claihe siply

Plaintiff's desk and screamed at the Plaintiff while waiving [sic] a piece adrpap
in close proximity to the Plaintiff's face . . . . Mr. Hayleck was upset that the
Plaintiff had sent an email to David Ferguson, the Plaintiffs 4imed supervisor,
regarding a “controversial training request.”

Harrison |, 964 F. Supp. 2d 71, 74 (D.D.C. 2013) (internal citations omitted).
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asserts that Mr. Ferguson was the supervisor of other employees involtkd ations
considered by the Court. Plaintiff notes that Mr. Ferguson was thédirfgstupervisor to Ms.
Tiscione Mr. Ciangg and Ms. Bailey, and the secohde supervisor to Mr. Hayleck, Ms.
Heslep, and Ms. Drake. Pl.’s Mot. a3 Plaintiff does not allege that Mr. Ferguson had any
supervisory authority over Agent Wilson. T@eurt finds that the fact that MFerguson was
the first or secondine supervisor to some of the employees involved in the cited incjdents
without supporting evidence that tvas involved in any way with those incideresupled with
his withdrawal of a proposed reprimand of Plaintsimply is not sufficient to support
reconsideration of the Court’s finding that Plaintiff failed to make out dareble hostile work
envirorment claim. As the Court noted, Plaintitbnly pointsto a string of sporadic events,
spread out over timeand involving five separate supervisors and a different division.
Accordingly, the Court concludes Plaintiff has presented no basis for it to recatsidelding
that a reasonable juror could not conclude the purportedly offensive conduct wasrglyffic
severe or pervasive such that it altered the conditions of Plaintiff's emg@ityend created an
abusive working environment.

C. Arguments Raisedn Plaintiff's Reply

Finally, Plaintiff attempts tdaise new arguments in her reply that have not been raised in
her initial motion for reconsideration. Further, Plaintiff seeks to incorporatéhese new
argumentsby simply referencing arguments madeBHaintiff's reply briefs insupport of her
Motions for Reconsideration idarrison I, Civ. No. 091364, ECF No. [54], and iHarrison I,
Civ. No. 101480, ECF No. [75].SeePl.’s Reply at 1 (“Plaintiff incorporates by reference and
makes a part hereof @sfully set forth herein the contents of Section | and Section Il of her
Reply to Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration in @igtlon No.
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1:09-¢v-001364(CKK), Harrison I' respecting workplace mobbing,’ workplace bullying, and
‘totality of circumstancésind ‘exclusion of the medical evidentegspectively; and Section | of
Civil Action No. 1:10cv-001480(CKK), Harrison II' respecting theCourt’s rejection of the
Plaintiff's medical evidence and the adverse inferenqeedsg the destruction of the Plaintiff's
recording device in the absence of Plaintiff's medical evidence and the refer@nceblbing
behavior’ contained in the charts appearing on pages 36, 37 andEfiotion Abuse in the
American WorkplaceDavenpaet, Ph.D., Schwartz and Pursell Elliott, Civil Society Publishing,
(2002), Davenport™) . The arguments Plaintiff raises for the first time in her reply are forfeited
because it leaves Defendant with no opportunity to resp8ee, e.g., McBride v. Mait Dow
& Pharm, 800 F.2d 1208, 1211 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (“Considering an argument advanced for the
first time in a reply brief . . . is not only unfair to [a defendant], but also entailsigk of an
improvident or illadvised opinion on the legal issudendered.” (citation omitted));
Conservation Force v. Salazaé16 F. Supp. 2d 15, 22 (D.D.C. 2018fd 699 F.3d 538 (D.C.
Cir. 2012) (forfeiting an argument made for the first time in a reply brsef@ alsaJones v.
Mukasey 565 F. Supp. 2d 68, 81 (D.D.C. 2008) (holding that D.C. precedent consistently
submits that courts should not address arguments raised for the first timeaity’'s eply).
Further, he Court shall not readdress these arguments, which are discussed in full in tlee Court
rulings on Plaintiff's Motiors for Reconsideration entered Harrison I andll. SeeHarrison |,
Civ. No. 09-1364, ECF No. [56Harrison II, Civ. No. 10-1480, ECF No. [77].
V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons outlined above, the CoDENIES Plaintiffs [31] Motion for
Reconsideratian The Court further INCORPORATESs part of this opiniofits reasoning as
laid out in its BO] Memorandum Opinionsee985 F. Supp. 2d 13 (D.D.C. 2013 his case
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remains dismissedAn appropriate Order accompanies this Memdtam Opinion.

s/
COLLEEN KOLLAR-KOTELLY
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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